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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	MARLA  WORMAN, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

WAL MART STORES, INC.,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

AMERICAN HOME ASSURANCE CO.,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                     Defendants.
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)
	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200515885
AWCB Decision No.  08-0001

Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on January  2, 2008


On November 27, 2007, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) heard the employee’s claim in Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Robert Mason represented the employee.   Attorney Colby Smith represented the employer and insurer (“employer”).  The record remained open at the conclusion of the hearing to permit the employer to review medical bills with the insurer’s adjuster and file with the Board post-hearing remarks.  Upon receipt of the parties’ supplemental hearing briefs, the record closed on December 20, 2007, when the Board next met.


ISSUES
1. Under AS 23.30.185, is the employee entitled to temporary total disability (“TTD”) benefits from January 28, 2006 and continuing?

2. Is the employer responsible for additional medical benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.095(a)?

3. Is the employee entitled to additional permanent partial impairment (“PPI”) benefits under 
AS 23.30.190?

4. Is the employee entitled to reemployment benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.041?

5. Under AS 23.30.145, is the employee entitled to attorney fees and legal costs?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
I.
MEDICAL HISTORY

The employee began working for the employer in 2001, in Ketchikan, Alaska.  Upon her family’s move to Anchorage in July 2004, the employee transferred to the employer’s store in Eagle River, Alaska.  During the four years the employee worked for the employer, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., she filed three reports of injury; the first two for back strain and the third for right sided back strain.
  The third injury occurred while the employee was working as a Sales Floor Associate for the employer.  On June 13, 2005, while putting fabric away, the employee injured her back.
  

The employee was initially treated by Jan Oxford, PA-C, of Eagle River Primary Care, after her lower back “popped” while pushing fabric onto overhead shelves at work.  The employee experienced radiating pain down her right leg.  Ms. Oxford diagnosed back strain
 and advised the employee to discontinue work until her next appointment.
  On June 23, 2005, Ms. Oxford assessed the employee with back sprain and restricted her from working until her next evaluation, scheduled for June 30, 2005.
  The employee remained off work, and as of her July 7, 2005 examination, her symptoms had not improved, despite physical therapy and massage therapy.  The employee continued to have radiating pain down her right leg and decreased range of motion in her back with right paraspinal tenderness.  A MRI
 was ordered and the employee was restricted from working.

A MRI of the employee’s lumbar spine revealed significant degenerative changes of the L4 – 5 and L5 – S1 discs.  Robert Bridges, M.D, indicated the fluid collections reflect an active inflammatory process and that facet injections may be beneficial both diagnostically, to determine if the L4-5 and L5-S1 discs are the origin of the employee’s symptoms, and therapeutically.  The MRI also revealed minimal disc bulges at L1 – 2 and L4 – 5.
  

Based upon the results of the MRI, the employee was referred to Advanced Medical Centers of Alaska for facet injections, evaluation and treatment.
  Gregory Polston, M.D., evaluated the employee on July 27, 2005.  He performed intra-articular injections at L4-L5 and L5-S1, on the right, on August 9, 2005.
  The employee’s level of pain while still at the pain center was 4/10; between one and five hours after the procedure, her pain level was 6/10; six hours after the injections, her pain level was 8/10; three days after the procedure, her pain level was still 8/10; and seven days after the injections, the employee’s pain level was 6/10.

At the employer’s request, Ilmar Soot, M.D., orthopedic surgeon, evaluated the employee on August 20, 2005.
  Dr. Soot recounted the employee's history of prior injury to her back as significant from the standpoint of having an injury to her back in 2001, when she was working in the furniture department of the employer.  He noted that at the time she did not have radicular pain and it was a month before symptoms improved to a degree that she was able to return to work.

Dr. Soot indicated that Wadell tests were negative on compression, traction and rotation.  His review of the MRI scan showed relatively significant degenerative disc disease changes at L4 - L5 and L5 - S1, with arthropathies in the posterior facets.  Dr. Soot did not identify any significant nerve root compression on the MRI scan.
  He diagnosed lumbar spondylosis with degenerative disc disease at L4-L5 and L5-S1; in lumbar strain in aggravation of pre-existing degenerative disc disease and spondylolisthesis with sciatica.
  In providing the diagnosis, Dr. Soot stated, as follows:

Ms. Worman describes a straining type maneuver in her work activities that in all probability strained the lumbar spine.  

I am unable to give a more definitive explanation of the sciatica that she experiences with the radicular pains.  There is ample clinical evidence to indicate that she probably has nerve root irritation, as findings are totally consistent with that, but the MR scan does not demonstrate a significant disc protrusion.

The spondylosis at L4-L5 and L5-S1 levels would be degenerative disc disease, and the degenerative changes in the facets, and all probability, predate the injury of 
June 13, 2005, and also are probably not, to significant degree, related to the lifting episode that caused her symptoms initially in 2001.

Dr. Soot opined there was definite evidence of degenerative disc disease at L4-L5 and L5-S1 that pre-existed the June 13, 2005 injury.  He indicated the June 13, 2005 injury aggravated her pre-existing lumbar condition with a strain and sciatica on a temporary basis.  Further, he noted it was not unusual for someone with a spondylosis problem to have strain symptoms that would last four to six months following the event, depending upon the magnitude of the underlying instability in the lumbar spine.
  As of August 20, 2005, Dr. Soot indicated the temporary aggravation had not yet resolved; and that it would likely take several months for a resolution to “potentially” occur.  As such, Dr. Soot indicated the employee had not reached medical stability with regard to the June 13, 2005 injury and that she was not able to return to her regular work activity, nor was she able to return to light or sedentary work.  Dr. Soot described the employee’s physical restrictions, limiting her to sitting for ten minutes and avoiding lifting, stooping, or bending on a repetitive basis.  He indicated the limitations were a result of both the strain from work and the employee's underlying degenerative condition in her back.  Dr. Soot indicated further care was reasonable and necessary for the process of recovery from the June 13, 2005 work injury.  Specifically, he recommended ongoing active physical therapy to mobilize the employee's back, as well as epidural steroids or facet injections.

After receiving lumbar facet injections, upon reexamination at the Advanced Pain Center of Alaska, the employee reported a 50 percent improvement in her low back pain, but a continuation of the pins and needles sensation and burning down her right leg.  The employee reported her leg pain was worse than her back pain.  Dr. Polston recommended an epidural steroid injection based upon the pain relief the employee received from the facet injection and her remaining symptomology.  
Dr. Polston indicated the employee’s pain was caused by a disk.  He diagnosed diskogenic low back pain with annular tear and lumbar facet arthropathy.
  

The employee received a right transforaminal epidural steroid injection at L4-5 on September 6, 2005.
  Post injection evaluation indicated the employee’s pain level was consistently 5/10 through the third day after the injection; by the seventh day after the injection, the employee’s pain had increased to 6/10.
  On September 26, 2005, the employee reported a 20 percent improvement in her pain following the epidural steroid injection; however, she continued to have back pain and pain radiating down her leg in to her right heel.  Dr. Polston recommended a second epidural steroid injection at L5-S1, with the hopes of getting the epidural steroids more to the center of the disc from one level below L4-L5.
  The employee received a right L5 transforaminal epidural steroid injection on October 4, 2005 for treatment of a small disc protrusion with radicular symptoms.
  Having provided the employee with only a 20 percent reduction in pain, on November 1, 2005, 
Dr. Polston next performed a medial branch block on the right at L3, L4 and L5, to determine if the employee was a candidate for radiofrequency ablation.
  After the procedure, the employee’s pain level went from 4/10 to 1/10;
 therefore, she was scheduled for radiofrequency ablation of the medial branches L3, L4, L5 and S1 on the right, on November 22, 2005.

The employee continued to have low back pain and pain radiating down the right leg into her ankle.  Her predominant pain was in her back and buttocks.  The employee continued to take Darvocet without significant improvement.  Dr. Polston prescribed Percocet, discussed the risks and benefits of opioids and reviewed an opioid contract with the employee, which she executed.
  The employee continued with exercise and massage therapies.

On January 4, 2006, Eagle River Primary Care advised AIG Claim Services that the employee was not medically stable.  It was estimated that the employee would be medically stable in approximately one to two months, pending the results of discography.

On January 29, 2006, Dr. Polston reported the employee had persistent, significant low back pain with minimal relief from prior interventions.  He indicated that a review of her MRI revealed disc degeneration and disc protrusions at L4-5, L5-S1.  Dr. Polston recommended lumbar discography, prior to nucleoplasty, to best determine which disk was painful, or if the disks were indeed the source of the employee's pain.  Dr. Poston indicated that the employee was not medically stable, as there were further interventions that could improve her pain condition.  He indicated that the diskography would assist in determining the best long-term treatment for the employee.

At the employer’s request, the employee was reevaluated by Dr. Soot on January 27, 2006.  On this occasion, Dr. Soot indicated Waddell tests were positive on compression and asymptomatic with traction and rotation.  Dr Soot’s impressions were chronic lumbar strain, degenerative disc disease, and right leg sciatica, of undetermined etiology.
  He opined the employee was medically stable, as he found she had no objectively measureable improvement and the measurements he took on January 27, 2006 were more problematic than those he took on August 20, 2005.  Dr. Soot indicated he was unable to give the specific timing of medical stability, but that as of the date of the evaluation, he found the employee medically stable.

Dr. Soot determined the employee was not capable of returning to her work at the time of her injury.  He opined that her inability to return to work was on a subjective basis and that the employee’s subjective limitations were not measurably related to her June 13, 2005 work injury.
 

Dr. Soot indicated that ongoing medical treatment was reasonable for the employee’s subjective complaints.  However, he opined that the employee’s pain complaints are related to the spondylosis and degenerative changes in her lumbar spine and that continued medical care was not reasonable or necessary for the process of recovery from the June 13, 2005 work injury.  Dr. Soot reiterated that he was not able to identify the specific etiology of the sciatica down the employee’s right leg.  He did, however, opine that any residual symptoms the employee has are related to degenerative changes.  Further, he opined the degenerative issues pre-existed the employee’s strain injury of June 2005, that initially precipitated the employee’s symptoms.
  Dr. Soot opined that the June 13, 2005 straining injury is not the cause of the degenerative changes, as the changes were noted on the July 14, 2005 lumbar MRI and these pre-dated the June 13, 2005 work injury.  Dr. Soot indicated that the employee’s symptomatic limitations are totally compatible with the degenerative process in the employee’s lumbar spine.

On February 3, 2006, Dr. Polston performed a lumbar discography.  The diagnosis prior to the procedure was lumbar diskogenic pain and the post procedure diagnosis was annular tears at L4-L5 and L5-S1.  During the procedure, at L4-L5, Dr. Polston identified a posterior tear to the left, which caused low back and left buttock pain.  At this level, there was only slight degeneration.
  At 
L5-S1, Dr. Polston noted a left posterior lateral tear, as the cause for pain in the employee’s back, buttock and into her right leg.
  Based upon the discography findings, Dr. Polston recommended that the employee proceed with disk nucleoplasty at the L4-L5 and L5-S1 levels.
  The employee reported to Dr. Polston that her claim had been controverted.

By April 20, 2006, the employee’s pain had progressed and was severe and consistent in her mid and low back, radiating into her buttock and right leg.  Dr. Polston continued to recommend nucleoplasty, but noted that the procedure had been denied by the insurance carrier.  Dr. Polston referred the employee to a neurosurgeon for consultation and ordered a MRI.
  

A MRI of the employee’s lumbar spine was taken on April 27, 2006.  It revealed mild disc degeneration at L4-L5 and a diffuse disc bulge that did not compromise the nerve rootlets or central canal.  Moderate facet joint arthropathy was present bilaterally and a synovial cyst was seen on the right posteriorly.  However, it did not encroach on the neural foramina or the central canal.  At 
L5-S1, there was mild disc degeneration, but no significant disc bulge, herniation or central canal stenosis; moderate facet joint arthropathy was present.  There was no appreciable change from the July 14, 2005 MRI.
  Dr. Polston referred the employee to Dr. Cohen and an evaluation was scheduled for May 23, 2006.

A second independent medical evaluation (“SIME”) was conducted by Larry Levine, M.D., on April 16, 2007.  Dr. Levine interpreted the MRI findings as slight facet arthropathy with fairly normal discs, some dessication at L4-L5 and L5-S1 without significant protrusions.  It was his opinion that the June 13, 2005 work injury aggravated, accelerated or combined with the employee’s pre-existing condition causing the need for medical treatment or the employee’s disability.  He indicated that the aggravation produced a permanent change; specifically, increased symptom levels, including pain radiating in the employee’s right leg, with altered functional status.  Dr. Levine indicated the employee did not have frank atrophy, but based upon “positivity with straight-leg raising” and complaints of sensory changes, he recommended further diagnostic studies, to include an electrodiagnostic study, to verify if the employee had a true radiculopathy-type pattern with axonal loss versus radiculitis with referral symptoms.  He did not see enough on the MRI to diagnose a mass effect along the nerve roots, but indicated a chemical irritation could cause a radiculitis-type pattern or overt radiculopathy.

Dr. Levine did not believe nucleoplasty was a treatment option.  He indicated nucleoplasty is for contained disc herniation that is subligmentous measuring less than 6 mm; and he did not observe any large disc protrusion that would be amenable to a nucleoplasty.  Dr. Levine noted:

When people have discogenic back pain with annular tears, the previous procedures were a consideration with annuloplasty such as IDET-type procedure.  The problem is that we are not tending to do those on multi-level abnormalities and they need to be very highly selected patients.  In general, we now consider any patient with Workmen’s Compensation claim is not necessarily a good candidate in relation to those procedures as well as patients that are involved in a litigation process.  With this in mind, I would not recommend annuloplasty at this time.

Dr. Levine found a pain program was a reasonable and necessary treatment option based upon the employee's ongoing pain for nearly two years and the fact that the employee had not been able to work.  The type of program he recommended was one that focused on functional status.  Dr. Levine found the employee to be relatively deconditioned and in the midst of a chronic pain situation.  He indicated that the employee has issues with depression, which are worsened by her pain situation.

Based upon the multiple procedures that had been conducted with no significant change in the employee's functional status, Dr. Levine found the employee meets the definition of medical stability.  He found January 27, 2006 was a reasonable point to consider the employee medically stable, based upon Dr. Soot’s EME report.  Despite his finding that the employee was medically stable, he indicated other treatments should be considered for the employee's pain issues and as palliative care, but that future treatment would not render a cure.

Dr. Levine felt a physical capacities evaluation was necessary to determine the employee's ability to return to work; however, acknowledged that this may be problematic due to the employee's deconditioned status.  Dr. Levine's best recommendation was to involve the employee in a pain program for approximately six to eight weeks and at the conclusion of the pain program, conduct a physical capacities evaluation to determine what former work the employee was capable of doing; and if the employee was unable to perform at the level required to perform the work she did at the time of her injury, he indicated other options would be in order.
 

Dr. Levine provided a permanent partial impairment rating of 10% whole person impairment.  His rating included a five percent impairment after the employee's initial work injury in 2001 with the same employer, and the remaining five percent Dr. Levine attributed to the June 13, 2005 injury.

On May 22, 2007, the employer paid the employee PPI benefits of $17,700.00, based upon 
Dr. Levine’s ten percent PPI rating.
  Despite its former controversion, the employer made this PPI benefits payment voluntarily.

On May 23, 2006, Timothy Cohen, M.D., neurosurgeon, evaluated the employee.  Considering 
Dr. Polston’s notes, Dr. Cohen identified a facet rhizotomy, a discography that was positive at L4-5, 
L5-S1, and that the MRI shows degenerative disc disease at L4-5, L5-S1.  He indicated the employee does not have a disc herniation to account for her lumbar radiculopathy.  He desired the employee to undergo a stealth CT from L3 to S2 and flexion / extension lumbosacral spine films.

Flexion and extension views of the employee’s lumbar spine were taken on June 1, 2006.  These revealed that the disc space and vertebral body heights were well preserved and that degenerative changes appeared in the lower lumbar facet joints.  Upon flexion, there was reduction of normal lordosis, but no other change in alignment; with extension, the lordosis increased, but also without subluxation.  No lesions were evident.
  A lumbar spine CT was also taken on June 1, 2006, which demonstrated disk bulge and degenerative disk and facet joint disease with mild L4-5 central canal stenosis and mild bilateral L4-5 and L5-S1 neural foramen narrowing.

Dr. Polston responded to questions posed on June 5, 2006, by Burt Mason, the employee’s attorney.  Dr. Polston indicated that the employee’s June 13, 2005 work injury was a substantial factor
 in causing or aggravating, accelerating, or combining with a pre-existing injury or condition, thereby contributing to or causing annular tears at L4-L5 or L5-S1.  Dr. Polston indicated the employee was not medically stable.  She had been referred to Dr. Cohen, who recommended a stealth CT from 
L3 to S2 and spine films.  Dr. Polston explained neuroplasty as a procedure whereby a needle is placed into a lumbar disc and removes or burns the tissue in the disc.  Although he had recommended this procedure, he awaited going forward with neuroplasty until Dr. Cohen completed the neurosurgical evaluation.
  

At hearing, the employee produced an exhibit of outstanding medical expenses incurred at Eagle River Primary Care for treatment from May 19, 2006 through August 19, 2006, in the total sum of $2,181.72.
  Additionally, the employee’s exhibit included cancelled checks written to Eagle River Primary Care and credit card statements demonstrating payments to Eagle River Primary Care, Advanced Pain Centers, Alaska Radiology Associates and Quest Diagnostics.  The employee testified at hearing that these are the only outstanding medical expenses incurred for treatment of her June 13, 2005 work injury.  

The employer contested introduction of the exhibit, claiming no prior knowledge of these outstanding expenses 20 days before hearing.  Further, the employer objected to introduction of the alleged outstanding expenses as its adjuster was not available to respond to employer’s counsel regarding the medical expenses.  In the interest of developing a complete record in this matter and avoid further and continuing litigation,
 the Board held the record open to permit Mr. Smith an opportunity to confer with his client, evaluate the medical expenses and provide any arguments in opposition to the Board.  

Without waiving its controversion of benefits, in its post hearing brief, the employer committed to payment of the outstanding medical expenses presented at hearing.  The employer declared it was in the process of auditing Eagle River Primary Care’s expenses and that they would be paid according to fee schedule allowances.  Further, the employer affirmed it shall issue payment to the employee for her out-of-pocket medical expenses.  The employer asserted it will have paid all outstanding medical expenses in a timely fashion and, therefore, maintained the Board need not address penalty or attorney fees with regard to past medical benefits.

II.
HISTORY OF REEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PROCESS

On February 16, 2006, the employee requested an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits.
  Workers’ Compensation Technician, Fannie Stoll, acknowledged receipt of the employee’s request, but as it had been made more than 90 days after the employer’s knowledge of the employee’s injury, explained an explanation of the unusual and extenuating circumstances for the employee’s last request was necessary prior to an eligibility determination.  The employee was notified that no further action would be taken by the Reemployment Benefits Administrator (“RBA”) or his Designee until the employee provided the explanation, in addition to a medical report predicting employee’s work injury may permanently prevent her from returning to her job.
  On November 16, 2006, Mr. Mason responded, as follows:

Ms. Worman’s primary treating physician is Dr. Polston, and he has not yet determined whether or not Marla will be able to return to her prior employment or not.  As of July, 2006, he stated that she was not medically stable and in May referred her for a consultation regarding surgery.  This was never obtained due to a Controversion being filed.  To date, Ms. Worman has not been advised that she will require re-training due to her injury.

In accordance with 8 AAC 45.520(b), this is an unusual and extenuating circumstance and she is entitled to an eligibility evaluation.  AS 23.43.041.

This explanation was provided to the RBA after June 6, 2006, the date the employer controverted the employee’s reemployment benefits.

III.
TESTIMONY OF EMPLOYEE

The employee testified via deposition on April 17, 2007, and at hearing.  During her deposition, the employee testified that since moving to North Pole, Alaska in August of 2006, she has not treated with any physicians.  She started working for Wal-Mart on January 19, 2001, as a sales associate in the fabric department, which required stocking shelves and lifting bolts of fabric weighing up to 20 pounds.  Her job required that she lift the large bolts of fabric into bins that were four feet off the ground.  

Prior to working for Wal-Mart, the employee testified she was a “stay at home mom.”  She could not remember the years; however, she testified that she worked in a tourist shop in Ketchikan during the summer as a cashier.  She testified this position did not require any heavy lifting.  The summer of 1997, May until September, she drove a van for Princess Cruises, taking tourists from the cruise ship docks to a float plane excursion.  She testified that her van driver job required no lifting and that this was a light duty position.  

While working for the employer, Wal-Mart, the employee testified that she did receive a promotion to domestics department manager.  In this position, she testified she was in charge of all the bedding, bathroom products, furniture, picture frames, rugs and candles.  She testified that she was responsible for stocking all these products, keeping them in order and assisting customers.  She testified that some of the furniture she was required to stock weighed hundreds of pounds and, typically, she would get somebody to help her with the furniture.  She testified that as manager of domestics, a great deal of lifting, bending and climbing ladders was required.  The employee testified that she held this position from 2001 to 2004, when her family moved to Anchorage.  The employee then worked in the employer's Eagle River store as a sales associate in the fabric department.  She testified that her duties included cutting fabric, stocking shelves, and assisting customers.  She testified that the Eagle River store was much bigger than the Ketchikan store; consequently, there was a lot more stock, including sewing machines and fabric that had to be moved.  The employee testified that she worked for the employer and its Eagle River store from July of 2004 until June 13, 2005, when she was injured.  She testified that the employer never offered her modified work and that she has not worked for another employer since her injury.

On June 13, 2005, the date the employee was injured, she testified that the fabric department was extremely busy.  The employees were sitting up new “mods,” freight was everywhere, both old freight and new freight were all over the floor and had to be put away.  The employee testified that her department manager, Jewel, had bad knees and could not climb ladders or bend; and the other employee on duty that day had just come back to work after surgery and was on light duty.  Consequently, the employee testified that she was responsible for putting all the freight away.  She testified that after helping Jewel put a sewing machine up on a riser, she began putting fabric away on the second shelf of the department’s back wall, at approximately nose level.  She testified this required lifting and pushing in, all at the same time.  In doing this, she felt a sharp pain in her low back on the right side, with a burning sensation down her right leg, and her right foot went numb.

Prior to this incident, the employee had injured her back while working for the employer in 2001.  At that time she was lifting a table and chair set stored in a large box.  Upon a customer's request, in the employee was required to lift the box into a cart by herself, she could not find anybody to assist her.  Upon doing this, she testified she injured the same area of her back.  At that time, she testified that she had pain going down her right leg; however, she did not have numbness in her foot.  The employee received medical treatment, including physical therapy, and her back pain got better.  She testified it was not completely resolved, for if she overdid it or lifted something too heavy, she would hurt herself again.  She testified that prior to the 2001 work injury with the employer, she had not had any back problems; nor had she treated for back problems.  The employee testified that possibly on August 5, 2003, when lifting a ladder, her back was again tweaked and she was off work for a few days.  She testified that on that occasion she had pain in the same area, which radiated down her leg; however, she did not have numbness in her foot.  The employee testified that she received physical therapy and her back problem improved, although it did not go away completely.  Between her first and second injury, the employee testified that she experienced low back pain on those occasions when she overworked, otherwise, it was not constant.

The employee testified that prior to the 2005 injury, she had occasional pain in her right leg and her back pain was approximately two to three out of ten.  She testified that since her 2005 injury, her pain level has never gone back to that two to three level; and, on an average, is currently between five and six.  After the 2005 injury, the employee testified that the pain is constant and much worse.  She testified that none of the treatment she has received since the 2005 injury has provided any sort of permanent relief.  Further, she testified that the numbness in her foot comes and goes.

At hearing the employee testified that she first injured her back while working for the employer in 2001 and, after that injury, she was off work for one month and when she returned, was on light duty for a period of time.  The pain she testified she experienced was in her lower back, with burning down her right leg, which resolved with pain medication and physical therapy.  In 2003, she testified she again injured her back when she put a ladder on a cart.  On this occasion, she testified she was off work for a couple of weeks; when she returned to work she was on one half time for a week and then full time.  Her third injury while working for the employer occurred after she had moved to Eagle River, on June 13, 2005.  She testified she was stocking fabrics and felt a burning pain in her back, running down her leg, and her foot went numb.

The employee testified that prior to the June 13, 2005 injury, she did not have constant pain in her foot, had not pain in her foot and no numbness in her foot.  She testified that after the June 13, 2005 injury she experienced sharp stabbing pain and her foot goes numb.  She testified the numbness in her foot comes and goes.  Physically, she testified she is limited; she cannot bend, squat, walk far distances, or sit for a long period without pain, and that she cannot carry more than a few pounds.

According to her testimony, the medication and massage therapy received prescribed by Eagle River Primary Care provided the employee temporary relief.  She testified that the relief she received was not permanent.

The employee testified she recalled being evaluated by Dr. Soot on two occasions; and that he told her he did not think she hurt herself at work; that she just had a bad back.  She testified she does not recall discussing with Dr. Soot the treatment she was receiving.

The employee testified that despite the injection treatments she received from Dr. Polston, her pain has stayed at six to seven out of ten; and although the injections gave her temporary relief, the pain essentially remained constant.  She testified she did not recall Dr. Levine telling her she could not go back to work; however, she does recall him saying the available options for treatment would not be curative.  She testified that Dr. Cohen was evaluating her for possible disc replacement surgery; and that she does not recall Dr. Cohen or Dr. Levine mentioning that there was no disc herniation that would account for her leg pain.  

V.
ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS

Mr. Mason filed his statement of legal services rendered on behalf of Marla Worman on November 15, 2007.
  Mr. Mason’s fee statement itemizes 69.6 hours expended in pursuing the employee’s claim for benefits.  Additionally, the fee statement itemizes costs totaling $446.51.  A first addendum to the statement was submitted at hearing, itemizing 6.8 hours expended in hearing preparation.
  Further, time spent on the instant matter in preparation and attendance at hearing and not recorded in the statements, was 3.2 hours, according to Mr. Mason’s hearing testimony.  
Mr. Mason filed a second addendum billing statement for time expended on the post hearing brief of 6.7 hours.  The total time spent by Mr. Mason in representing the employee is 86.3 hours.  
Mr. Mason’s time is billed at $275.00 per hour, for attorney fees totaling $23,732.50. 

V.
PARTIES’ ARGUMENTS

A. Employee’s Arguments

The employee asserts that prior to her first work injury and subsequent work injuries, all with her same employer, Wal-Mart, she had never sought treatment for back pain or radiating leg pain; nor had she had any problems with her back whatsoever.  Additionally, she contends to prior to the 
June 13, 2005 injury with the employer, she had never had numbness in her right foot, and this symptom started when she was injured on June 13, 2005.  The employee declares that the pain and symptoms she currently experiences started on the day of her injury and have remained essentially the same since the injury; there has been no change in her condition or her symptomology.

The employee maintains that despite opinions by Dr. Levine and Dr. Soot, she is not medically stable, requires additional medical treatment and encourages the Board to rely upon the opinion of Dr. Polston.  Further, the employee argues that in reliance upon the opinions of Dr. Levine and 
Dr. Polston, the preponderance of the evidence shows the June 13, 2005 injury caused a permanent aggravation of the employee’s underlying degenerative disc disease.  The employee contends that Dr. Soot’s opinion that the work injury caused only a temporary in aggravation is flawed, based upon the inconsistencies in his reports and, therefore, his opinion does not constitute substantial evidence.  In reliance upon Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass’n,
 the employee asserts that medical testimony cannot constitute substantial evidence if it simply points to other possible causes of an employee specific disorder without ruling out the work-related injury.  The employee argues that based upon Dr. Soot's opinion the employer is unable to overcome the presumption.  

However, even if the Board were to determine that the presumption has been overcome, the employee contends that the overwhelming weight of the medical evidence and factual evidence proves that the June 13, 2005 injury permanently aggravated her condition and that the work injury is a substantial factor in her need for treatment.  To bolster her arguments, the employee asserts that her need for treatment for back symptoms occurred after the June 13, 2005 injury, not before it.  Further, she asserts that the symptoms she experienced were similar to her symptoms caused by her to prior injuries with the employer, but were substantially greater and included numbness in her foot, an entirely new symptom.  The employee maintains that there is no factual evidence to support the opinion of Dr. Soot; and that the medical opinions of both Dr. Levine and Dr. Polston support that the employee suffered a permanent aggravation at L4-5 and L5-S1.

The employee asserts she is not medically stable, and that further medical treatment is supported by the opinions of both Dr. Polston and Dr. Levine.  Moreover, she contends that Dr. Soot concurs that additional medical treatment is reasonable and necessary; however, she recognizes that it is his opinion that the employee suffered only a temporary aggravation and the necessary treatment is, in his opinion, related to the employee’s underlying degenerative disc disease and not her work injury.  The employer asserts that if the Board finds there was a permanent aggravation, then Dr. Soot’s opinion supports the need for additional medical care.

The employee argues that if the Board finds she is not medically stable, she is entitled to TTD benefits from the date the employer’s controversion was filed and time loss benefits ceased, and continuing.  The employee asserts she will not be medically stable until she completes a pain management program and undergoes electrodiagnostic studies, as recommended by Dr. Levine.

The employee maintains that she is entitled to a reemployment eligibility evaluation, although her treating physician Dr. Polston has not offered an opinion regarding her ability to return to her job at the time of her injury.  The employee acknowledges Dr. Soot’s opinion that she cannot return to her job with the employer is based upon his belief that her continuing symptoms are solely based upon her underlying degenerative disc disease and not her work injury and Dr. Levine’s opinion that returning to her job was problematic, that a physical capacities evaluation is necessary after electrodiagnostic studies are conducted and the employee engages in a pain management program.

The employee contends that she has not yet met the criteria for an eligibility evaluation as set forth in AS 23.30.041(c) at the time of her injury.  She maintains further medical care and testing is necessary to determine if she will have the ability to return to her job with the employer and, therefore, it is premature to make a determination on this issue.  

However, the employee, in reliance upon the Board’s decisions in Carrell v. Pacific Log & Lumber,
 and Faust v. Municipality of Anchorage,
 alternatively asserts that AS 23.30.041(c), as amended in 2005, provides a different process for determination of eligibility for reemployment benefits; and under this new procedure, the employee argues she is clearly entitled to an eligibility evaluation.  The employee argues that the change in law is procedural, not substantive; therefore, an eligibility evaluation should occur based upon the amendments to the law creating a new procedure.  The employee encourages the Board, in reliance upon the decisions in Carrell and Faust and the authorities cited in these decisions, to direct the RBA to conduct an eligibility evaluation for the employee.

B. Employer’s Arguments

The employer essentially agrees that sufficient evidence exists to trigger the presumption.  The employer asserts that it unequivocally rebuts this presumption of compensability with the opinion of Dr. Soot.  First, the employer maintains it rebuts the presumption of compensability of further TTD benefits based upon Dr. Soot’s opinion that the employee was medically stable as of January 27, 2006.  Second, the employer maintains it has rebutted the presumption of compensability for further medical benefits based upon Dr. Soot’s opinion that the employee's need for ongoing medical care is related to her spondylosis and degenerative changes, but is not reasonable and necessary for the purposes of recovery of her June 13, 2005 work injury.  Finally, the employer contends the employee is unable to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that she is entitled to further benefits.  The employer asserts, in reliance on Safeway, Inc. v. Mackey,
 that a reasonable person can conclude, when considering all the medical testimony and records that rebut the presumption of compensability, that the evidence is adequate to eliminate any reasonable possibility that the employee is not medically stable as a result of the June 13, 2005 work injury.  The employer maintains that to succeed in her claim for further benefits, the employee must present persuasive evidence to the board that she is not medically stable, incurred a PPI in excess of ten percent, and is in need of continued medical care; and that the employee is unable to do so.

The employer asserts that in reliance upon the opinions of Dr. Soot and Dr. Levine, which present substantial evidence that the employee was medically stable on January 26, 2006, and pursuant to AS 23.30.185, the employee is not entitled to any further TTD benefits.  Further, the employer contends that Dr. Polston's response to Mr. Mason's letter, indicating that the employee is not medically stable, is inconsistent with the medical records generated by Dr. Polston, which demonstrate that the employee's pain level and location of pain was unchanged throughout the treatment Dr. Polston provided.  Moreover, the employer maintains that Dr. Polston's opinion conflicts with the employee’s deposition testimony that her pain level had not changed since her injury and the injections provided by Dr. Polston provided merely temporary relief.

The employer argues that the employee is not entitled to PPI benefits beyond the ten percent that authority been paid, as no physician has offered an opinion that the employee has incurred any further permanent partial impairment for her June 13, 2005 work injury.  The employer requests that the employee's claim for additional PPI benefits be denied.

The employer encourages the Board to rely upon the opinion of Dr. Soot, that any further treatment is a result of the employee's degenerative disc disease and not the June 13, 2005 work injury.  The employer draws the Board’s attention to Dr. Levine's opinion that further annuloplasty procedures, including IDET or nucleoplasty are not recommended; and that further treatment options will be palliative and not render a cure.  At a minimum, the employer contends that the Board should determine the employee is in need of no further medical treatment, to include nucleoplasty or IDET procedures; but also that the employee should not be entitled to any further medical benefits based upon the opinion of Dr. Soot.

The employer acknowledges Dr. Soot’s January 27, 2006 EME report indicates that the employee’s subjective complaints prevented her from returning to work; and Dr. Levine's April 16, 2007 opinion that loading stock was problematic.  The employer points out that Dr. Polston's reply to 
Mr. Mason's June 5, 2006 letter did not address the issue of the employee's ability to return to work and, thereafter, no further efforts were made to generate such an opinion.  Consequently, the employer contends that the employee's request to have the Board address the issue circumvents the RBA's February 24, 2006 letter requesting medical documentation.  As more than 90 days have elapsed since Dr. Levine issued his opinion and the employee has not submitted a request to the RBA, the employer maintains that the only issue the Board should address is whether the employer's controversion constitutes extraordinary and unusual circumstances preventing the employee from proceeding with an eligibility evaluation.

The employer argues that reliance on the Board’s decision in the Carrell case for the contention that the date of the employee's injury does not matter when addressing a rehabilitation eligibility of evaluation is misplaced.  As an initial matter, the employer asserted that the parties to the Carrell matter are in the process is stipulating to vacate the Board’s interlocutory decision and order.  Second, the employer maintains that when the Carrell matter was submitted to the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission for extraordinary review, the Appeals Commission noted that AS 01.10.090 provides, “no statute is retrospective unless expressly declared therein,” and nowhere in the 2005 amendment is there an express declaration of retrospective application of Section 17;
 the Appeals Commission, therefore, presumed that Section 17 operates prospectively.  The employer contends, based upon the Appeals Commission’s dicta, the 2005 changes to AS 23.30.041 do not apply retroactively and are not applicable to the employee’s June 13, 2005 injury.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I.
PRESUMPTION OF COMPENSABILITY

At AS 23.30.120, the Act provides a presumption of compensability for an employee's injuries.  
AS 23.30.120(a) reads, in part:  "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . ."  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the claimed treatment or disability benefit and employment.
  This presumption continues during the course of recovery from the injury and disability.
  Also, a substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
  The Alaska Supreme Court held "the text of 
AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  

There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability:  (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the treatment is not related to the injury, and not reasonable and necessary; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the treatment is reasonable and necessary for a work-related condition.
  The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.
  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."
  

If the employer is able to rebut the presumption with substantial evidence, the employee must prove her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.
  

II.
TTD BENEFITS
AS 23.30.185 provides:

In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

The employee claims TTD benefits for her work injuries, from the controversion of her benefits on January 27, 2006, and continuing until the date of medical stability.   The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act defines "disability" as "incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment."
  The Act provides for benefits at 80 percent of the employee's spendable weekly wage during the continuance of disability either total or partial in character but temporary in quality."
  In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated:

The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.

The Alaska Supreme Court held in Meek v. Unocal Corp., that AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute.
  In the instant case, the employee testified concerning her work injury and her persisting disabling symptoms.  We find the documentary record contains medical opinions of the employee’s treating physician and Dr. Levine indicating the employee’s low back condition, radiating pain and numbness are work related.  Following the Court's rationale in Meek, we must apply the presumption of compensability from AS 23.30.120(a)(1) to the employe’s claim for additional TTD benefits.  We find the employee's testimony and the medical records of her physician, Dr. Polston, and the SIME physician, Dr. Levine, are sufficient evidence to raise the presumption that her work injury prevented her from working as of January 27, 2006, and that she is entitled to TTD benefits from that date and continuing.  

There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability:  (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the employee does not suffer work-related disability; or 
(2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the disability is work-related.
  In the instant case, the medical opinion of Dr. Soot casts doubt on the work connection of the employee’s continuing symptoms and inability to work.  Dr. Soot does not dispute that the employee aggravated her pre-existing lumbar condition with a strain and sciatica on a temporary basis.  However, he determined she was medically stable as of January 27, 2006, and that any residual symptoms the employee has are related to solely to degenerative changes and the degenerative issues pre-existed the employee’s strain injury of June 13, 2005.  Dr. Soot indicated that the employee’s symptomatic limitations are totally compatible with the degenerative process in the employee’s lumbar spine, not the work-related strain injury.  Accordingly, when considering this evidence in isolation, we find Dr. Soot’s opinion is substantial evidence to rebut the employee’s disability.

We find the employee has established by the overwhelming preponderance
 of the evidence, including the report of Dr. Levine and the testimony of the employee, that she has been, in fact disabled from her work by her decreased capacity resulting from her work injury.  As discussed above, we find that the employee’s work injuries are the substantial cause of her disabling symptoms and decreased capacities.

Nevertheless, whether or not the employee is injured or disabled from her work, AS 23.30.185 specifically limits the duration of TTD benefits to the date of medical stability.  AS 23.30.395(21) defines medical stability:  

"[M]edical stability" means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for addi​tional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measur​able improvement for a period of 45 days; "this presump​tion may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence. . . .

The presumption of medical stability in the statutory definition must be read in the context of the terms that "improvement. . . is not reasonably expected."  To terminate the employee’s TTD benefits, the employer is required to show medical evidence to establish medical stability.  In the instant case, until benefits were controverted, Dr. Polston’s treatment records indicate the employee had improvement in her condition, albeit temporary, and therefore continued to be physically restricted, and was still actively exploring treatment options.  Based on the employee’s hearing testimony, we find this continues to be the case.  We find that when the employee’s benefits were controverted, she had been referred to Dr. Cohen for neurological evaluation and an opinion regarding surgical options, if any.  Further, we find Dr. Levine has recommended a pain management program and electrodiagnostic studies.  We find the preponderance of the record clearly reflects the employee is seeking to undergo treatment anticipated to improve her condition.
  Considering the medical record and the treatment recommendations from her physician and from Dr. Levine, we are unable to find that "improvement  … is not reasonably expected"
 from the recommended treatments.  Accordingly, we cannot find the employee is medically stable.  We conclude she is entitled to TTD benefits for her disability from January 27, 2006, through the date of the hearing, and until she is medically stable.
  

III.
MEDICAL BENEFITS 
AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires....

As mentioned above, the Alaska Supreme Court held "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  The Court also held the presumption of compensability under 
AS 23.30.120(a) specifically applies to claims for medical benefits.
  If complications from the injury or treatment occur, the subsequent treatment would still be compensable, and the employer would still be liable for continuing medical benefits under AS 23.30.095(a).
  Treatment must be reasonable and necessary to be payable under AS 23.30.095(a).
  

In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  In the instant case, we find the testimony of the employee and her medical provider’s reports, including Jan Oxford, PA-C and Dr. Polston, are sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of the compensability for the employee’s claim for additional medical benefits for her work injuries.  We also find the medical records are sufficient evidence to raise the presumption that her medical care has been reasonable and necessary for her work injuries.  

Once the presumption attaches, substantial evidence must be produced showing the claimed medical treatment is not for the work-related injury.
  There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability for medical benefits:  (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the employee does not suffer a treatable work-related condition; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the medical costs are not reasonable, necessary, and work-related.
  Merely showing another cause of the disability does not, in itself, rebut the compensability of the claim against an employer.
  The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.
  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."
  Based on our review of the record, we find the opinion of Dr. Soot that ongoing medical treatment was reasonable for the employee’s subjective complaints; however, those pain complaints are related to the employee’s spondylosis and degenerative changes in her lumbar spine and that continued medical care was not reasonable or necessary for the process of recovery from the June 13, 2005 work injury is substantial evidence, when viewed in isolation, to rebut the presumption of compensability as of the date of Dr. Soot’s second examination, 
January 27, 2005.

Once the employer produces substantial rebuttal evidence, the presumption of continuing compensability for the claimed benefits drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."
  

In the instant case, we find the preponderance of the available evidence, specifically the reports of Dr. Polston, the SIME report of Dr. Levine, and the testimony of the employee, in addition to the acknowledgements by Dr. Soot that the employee will benefit from additional medical treatment, indicate the employee’s work injuries dating back to 2001, and specifically including her June 13, 2005 work injury, substantially diminished her physical capacity and produced persisting disabling symptoms.  Although we find the record indicates the employee suffers degenerative disc disease, we do not find the degenerative disc disease in any way pre-existed her work with the employer, but based upon our review of the entire record in this matter and the employee’s testimony, we find the preponderance of the evidence indicates the employee’s degenerative disc disease was initiated by her work with the employer and that her June 13, 2005 work injury combined with and substantially aggravated her back condition.
  We find by the preponderance of the evidence available in the record that the June 13, 2005 work injury was a substantial cause triggering the employee’s disabling symptoms and necessitating medical treatment for those symptoms. 

In Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon
 the Alaska Supreme Court held specific medical treatment recommended by a treating physician within two years of a work-related injury as reasonable, necessary, corroborated, and acceptable medical practice, is compensable.  The Court’s decision develops the presumption analysis, as first articulated in Carter.
  Between two legitimate, yet contradictory opinions about the efficacy of treatment, the employee may choose to follow the recommendations of his/her own physician.
  To overcome the compensability of such treatment recommended within two years of the injury, the employer must meet the “heavy burden” of proving such treatment is neither reasonable, necessary, nor within the realm of acceptable medical practice.
  
In the instant case, the employee’s physician, Dr. Polston recommended consideration of additional forms of treatment, and made a referral to Dr. Cohen for a neurosurgical evaluation to determine if neuroplasty was a viable option for the employee, or if he would recommend an alternative form of treatment.  Dr. Levine indicated that the procedure recommend by Dr. Polston, neuroplasty, was typically not prescribed for injured workers involved in workers’ compensation cases or individuals involved in litigation.  However, the Board finds Dr. Levine did not totally rule out neuroplasty; but maintained that the criteria for recommendation of the procedure are highly selective.  We find the additional treatment recommended by Dr. Polston was within the two-year time limit of Hibdon.  We find, in the record currently before the Board, no medical evidence to show that the form of medical treatment recommended was not reasonable, not necessary, and not within the realm of acceptable medical practice.
  Further, we find that Dr. Cohen was unable to complete his evaluation regarding whether the employee met the highly selective criteria individuals must meet to be considered candidates for neuroplasty.  Based on our review of the record, we find no substantial evidence to rebut the presumption of the employee’s entitlement to this ongoing medical care.  We find the claimant is entitled to medical benefits for her back condition, as recommended by her treating physician, pursuant to AS 23.30.095(a) and the Court’s ruling in Hibdon.
  Further, we find the employee is entitled to a pain management program, electrodiagnostic studies and upon completion of those, a physical capacities evaluation.  We will award the medical benefits claimed by the employee, under AS 23.30.095(a).

IV.
PPI BENEFITS
At the time of the employee’s injury, AS 23.30.190 provided, in part:

(a) in case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality. . . the  compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee's percentage of permanent  impairment of the whole person. The compensation is payable in a single lump sum, except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041....

(b) All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment....

(c) The impairment rating determined under (a) of this section shall he reduced by a permanent impairment that existed before the compensable injury.

The employee has made a claim for additional PPI benefits.  AS 23.30.190 is specific and mandatory that PPI ratings must be for an impairment, which is partial in character and permanent in quality, and calculated under the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment (“AMA Guides”).  We have consistently followed this statute in our decisions and orders.
  Above, we have determined the employee is not yet medically stable and continues to be entitled to benefits for temporary disability.  By the preponderance of the evidence in the record, we find that the employee’s condition is not yet “permanent in character,” within the meaning of AS 23.30.190.  However, we find that based upon Dr. Levine’s opinion the employee was medically stable, he rated her pursuant to the AMA Guides.  We find Dr. Levine provided a ten percent whole person impairment rating, attributing five percent to her 2001 injury with the employer and the remaining five percent to her June 13, 2005 injury. Accordingly, we conclude the employee is not yet due any additional PPI benefits.  We conclude the claim of the employee for additional PPI benefits is premature.  We will dismiss this claim, without prejudice.  

V.
DETERMINATION OF Entitlement to Eligibility Evaluation
At the time of the employee’s injuries, AS 23.30.041(d) provided, in pertinent part:  

Within 30 days after referral by the administrator, the rehabilitation specialist shall perform the eligibility evaluation and issue a report of findings. . . . Within 14 days after receipt of the report from the rehabilitation specialist, the administrator shall notify the parties of the employee’s eligibility for reemployment preparation benefits.  Within 10 days of the decision, either party may seek review of the decision by requesting a hearing under AS 23.30.110. . . .

This employee stands at the initial stage in the reemployment process.  We have found the employee’s claim to be compensable under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act.  Nevertheless, the determination of the employee’s possible entitlement to reemployment benefits is specifically vested with the RBA, under AS 23.30.041(d).  We find there has been a prediction that the employee will have permanent physical capacities that are less than the physical demands of her job with the employer.  Accordingly, we will refer this matter to the RBA.

IV.
ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS

AS 23.30.145 states, in pertinent part:

(a)  Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. . . .

(b)  If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

The employee is seeking actual attorney fees under AS 23.30.145(b). The Alaska Supreme Court noted in Williams v. Abood
 as follows: 

We have held that awards of attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145 "should be fully compensatory and reasonable, in order that injured workers have competent counsel available to them."  However, this does not mean that an attorney representing an injured employee in front of the board automatically gets full, actual fees. We held in Bouse v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Co. that an employee is entitled to "full reasonable attorney's fees for services performed with respect to issues on which the worker prevails." (Footnote omitted) 

Further, the award of attorney fees and costs must reflect the contingent nature of workers’ compensation proceedings. 

As we have noted, the objective of awarding attorney's fees in compensation cases is to ensure that competent counsel are available to represent injured workers.  Wien Air Alaska v. Arant, 592 P.2d at 365-66.  This objective would not be furthered by a system in which claimants' counsel could receive nothing more than an hourly fee when they win while receiving nothing at all when they lose.
 

The employee submitted statements of itemized attorney fees at the rate of $275.00 per hour.  The employer objects to an award of attorney fees for any time expended in representing the employee’s claim for outstanding medical benefits.  The employer asserted the first knowledge it had of the medical expenses of the employee was at hearing and that those benefits have been voluntarily and timely paid.  

Based on our review of the record, we find the employer controverted the employee’s claim, and the employee’s attorney has successfully obtained benefits for the employee.  Specifically, we find the employee’s attorney effectively prosecuted the employee’s claim.  The Board concludes we may award attorney's fees under subsection AS 23.30.145(b).  
AS 23.30.145(b) requires the award of attorney's fee and costs be reasonable.  Our regulation 
8 AAC 45.180(d) requires a fee awarded under AS 23.30.145(b) be reasonably commensurate with the work performed.  It also requires that the Board consider the nature, length and complexity of the services performed, as well as the amount of benefits involved.  In our awards, the Board attempts to recognize the experience and skills exercised on behalf of injured workers, and to compensate the attorneys accordingly.
  

In light of these factors, we have examined the record of this case.  The employee’s affidavits of fees and costs and Mr. Mason’s testimony itemize 86.3 hours of attorney time, requesting $275.00 per hour, totaling $23,732.50; and $446.51 in costs.  

We note the claimed hourly rate of $275.00 is within the reasonable range for experienced employees’ counsel in other cases,
 based on expertise and years of experience.  We find this was a contested case, and this hourly rate is reasonable.  We will award attorney fees at the rate of $275.00 per hour.  Having considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, as well as the amount of benefits resulting from the services obtained, we find the above-mentioned attorney fees and legal costs reasonable for the successful prosecution of the employee’s claim for benefits.  We will award a total of $23,732.50 as a reasonable attorney fee, and $446.51 in legal costs.  


ORDER
1. The employer shall provide the employee ongoing medical benefits related to her work injury, under AS 23.30.095(a), as discussed in this decision.

2. The employer shall pay the employee TTD benefits under AS 23.30.185, from January 27, 2006 through the date of the hearing, and until she is medically stable.  
3. The employee’s claim for additional PPI benefits under, AS 23.30.190, is dismissed without prejudice.

4. The employee’s claim for reemployment benefits is referred to the RBA, to proceed under AS 23.30.041.

5. The employer shall pay the employee $23,732.50 in fees for her attorney, and legal costs of $446.51, under AS 23.30.145(b).

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on January      , 2008.
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If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission.  If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.
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� Alaska Workers’ Compensation System, Claimant: Worman, Marla, AWCB Case Number 200126195, �DOI: 12/18/2001; AWCB Case Number 200316487, DOI: 7/29/2003; AWCB Case Number 2005, DOI: 6/13/2005.


� 6/13/07 Report of Occupational Injury or Illness.


� 6/13/05 Progress Notes and Prescription Slip, Jan Oxford, PA-C.


� 6/13/05 Authorization for Absence, Jan Oxford, PA-C.


� 6/23/05 Progress Notes, Jan Oxford, PA-C.


� Magnetic Resonance Image.


� 7/7/05 Progress Notes, Melissa Weight, PAS II.


� 7/14/05 MRI Lumbar Spine, Robert Bridges, M.D.


� 7/15/05 Referral, Jan Oxford, PA-C.


� 8/9/05 Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska – Anchorage, Procedure Note, Dr. {olston


� 8/9/05 Post Injection Evaluation, Physician: Dr. Polston.


� An employer’s medical examination, “EME,” pursuant to AS 23.30.095(e).


� 8/20/05 EME Report, Dr. Soot, at 2.


� Id., at 4.


� Id., at 5.


� Id.


� Id., at 6.


� Id. 


� 8/29/05 Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska, Anchorage, Progress Note, Dr. Polston.


� 9/6/05 Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska, Anchorage, Procedure Note, Dr. Polston.


� 9/6/05 Post Injection Evaluation, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska, Physician: Dr. Polston.


� 9/26/05 Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska, Anchorage, Progress Note, Dr. Polston.


� 10/4/05 Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska, Anchorage, Procedure Note, Dr. Polston.


� 11/1/05 Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska, Anchorage, Procedure Note, Dr. Polston.


� Id.


� 11/22/05 Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska, Anchorage, Procedure Note, Dr. Polston.


� 12/29/05 Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska, Anchorage, Progress Note, Dr. Polston.


� 1/12/06, Prescription Note, Jan Oxford, PA-C.


� 1/4/06 Form from AIG Claim Services, Nancy Arias, Claim Specialist III, addressed to “Dear Doctor.”


� 1/29/06 Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska, Anchorage, Progress Note, Dr. Polston.
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� 4/20/06 Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska, Anchorage, Progress Note, Dr. Polston.


� 4/27/06 MRI of the Lumbar Spine, James W. McGee, M.D.


� 5/5/06 Anchorage Neurosurgical Association, Inc., Referral Thank You.


� 4/16/07 SIME Report, Dr. Levine, at 7.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id., at 8.


� Id. 


� 5/24/07 Compensation Report.


� 5/23/06 Outpatient Consultation, Dr. Cohen.


� 6/1/06 Spine LS 2/3 views, Jonathon Coyle, M.D.
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